## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HARRISON PORTERFIELD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,505

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE

MAR 28 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M. LINTH CUM. PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. MCGINNES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 S. MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA. BAR #230502

#

## I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Harrison Porterfield was the defendant in the trial court, and appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner", "defendant", or by his proper name. Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the opinion issued in this case by the district court, namely, <a href="Porterfield v. State">Porterfield v. State</a>, 553 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

## 11. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by an information with possession of cocaine, contrary to Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1985)(Count I), and sale of cocaine, contrary to Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985)(Count II)(R-90). At his jury trial, the state adduced evidence that on March 14, 1986, Larry Kersh, an undercover narcotics officer with the Escambia County Sheriff's Department, contacted petitioner and asked if petitioner could procure some cocaine. Petitioner, Kersh, and another individual drove to an apartment complex in petitioner's car. Kersh gave petitioner some money. Petitioner left the car and went into one of the apartments. After about five minutes, petitioner returned with some cocaine, which he handed to Kersh (R-1-88). The jury found petitioner guilty of both offenses as charged (R-92).

The trial court adjudged petitioner guilty of both offenses and sentenced him to two, concurrent, five year terms of imprisonment (R-93-97). He took a timely appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, contending that principles of statutory construction and double jeopardy rendered the dual convictions erroneous.

The district court rejected this argument and affirmed in a brief opinion dated September 20, 1989. Petitioner filed a timely motion for rehearing in the district court. On December 4, 1989, the district court issued an opinion on rehearing that adhered to its earlier holding. In particular, the court explained that, pursuant to its analysis in Wheeler v. State,

549 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), petitioner's dual convictions were proper as each offense is found in a separate subsection of the same statute. Had petitioner's two offenses been contained in the same subsection of the same statute, the lower tribunal would have deemed the two convictions erroneous. Recognizing conflict with <a href="Choctaw v. State">Choctaw v. State</a>, 547 So.2d (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <a href="Kocol v. State">Kocol v. State</a>, 546 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); and, <a href="Jelks v. State">Jelks v. State</a>, 546 So.2d 738 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), the district court certified the following question to this Court:

Under the provisions of Section 775.021(4)(b), Fla.Stat., may a person be convicted and sentenced for possession of cocaine in violation of Section 893.13(1)(e), Fla.Stat. (1985) and for sale of the same cocaine in violation of Section 893.13(1)(a), Fla.Stat. (1985)? Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983).

(A-2).

Although notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was not timely filed, this Court, by order dated March 8, 1990, granted petitioner's motion for leave to seek belated discretionary review. This brief on the merits follows.

## 111. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues in this appeal that the district court erred in affirming the decision of the trial court to impose judgment and sentence for possession of cocaine, and sale of the same cocaine, where both offenses were predicated upon a single act. Accordingly, the certified question should be answered in the negative.

Although Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983) holds contrary to petitioner's position, petitioner urges here that the result in Smith is different when the analytical approach employed in Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) is applied to the facts of this case. Petitioner urges that the offense of possession of cocaine is necessarily included within the offense of sale of cocaine, because it is impossible for one to effect a sale of contraband without being legally deemed to be in possession of that contraband. Even if a seller is does not have actual possession of the contraband, as in the case of a broker, the possession of the individual who actually has the contraband is legally imputed to the broker. addition, it appears that the intent of the legislature was not to allow separate punishments for possession and sale of the same contraband, particularly in light of holdings that the legislature did not intend multiple punishments for sale and possession with intent to sell of the same contraband. Petitioner also urges that the "same subsection" versus "different subsection" distinction employed by the district

court in this case finds no support in the case law and leads to illogical results.

## IV. ARGUMENT

## ISSUE PRESENTED

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION MUST BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE, AS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE FOR BOTH POSSESSION AND SALE OF THE SAME COCAINE, BECAUSE BOTH OFFENSES RESULTED FROM A SINGLE ACT, VIOLATING PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO NOT BE TWICE PLACE IN JEOPARDY FOR THE SAME OFFENSE GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, SECTION 9, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND AMENDMENTS V AND XIV, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

In the instant case, <u>Porterfield v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the district court, on rehearing, certified the following question to this Court:

Under the provisions of Section 775.021(4)(b), Fla.Stat., may a person be convicted and sentenced for possession of cocaine in violation of Section 893.13(1)(e), Fla.Stat. (1985) and sale of the same cocaine in violation of Section 893.13(1)(a), Fla.Stat. (1985)? Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983).

(A-2). Petitioner argues that the certified question should be answered in the negative.

Petitioner recognizes that the decision of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983)(<u>Smith I</u>), holds contrary to the position he takes here. Petitioner urges, however, that the analytical approach taken by the Court in <u>Smith I</u> has been materially modified by the later decisions in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989)(<u>Smith 11</u>), which approved the decision of the second district in <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Applying the analytical approach of <u>Carawan</u>, <u>Smith 11</u>,

and  $\underline{Gordon}$  to the facts of this case (and those of  $\underline{Smith\ I}$ ) leads to a different result than that reached in  $\underline{Smith\ I}$ .

In <u>Smith I</u>, the Court held that a person may be convicted and sentenced for both possession and sale of the same controlled substance. In reaching this result, the Court applied <u>only</u> the test for ascertaining lesser included offenses set forth in <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), and concluded that possession was not a lesser offense of sale, or vice versa. The <u>Blockburger</u> test compares the elements of the crimes in question and, if both have one element the other does not, it is presumed that the offenses are separate.

Carawan teaches, however, that ",,,confusion has arisen from a misguided tendency to give ...[the Blockburger test] the force of constitutional law, to be applied blindly, mechanically, and exclusively to every multiple-punishments problem." 515 So.2d at 166 (emphasis in original). The Court also noted "...that unreasonable results sometimes may be achieved by applying no rule of construction other than Blockburger to determine the intent behind a facially ambiguous penal statute." 515 So.3d at 167. Thus, the Court in Carawan recognized that Blockburger creates a mere presumption of legislative intent, and that other tests designed to ascertain legislative intent exist.

The <u>Carawan</u> Court erected a somewhat more detailed analytical approach that the singular <u>Blockburger</u>-based test employed in <u>Smith I</u>. First, if the legislative intent is clear, then there is no occasion to even apply Blockburger or

any other test of legislative intent. Second, in the event legislative intent is not clear, courts must apply <u>Blockburger</u>. If one offense is lesser than another under <u>Blockburger</u>, then it is presumed that multiple punishments are not intended. On the other hand, if two offenses are not the same under <u>Blockburger</u>, it is presumed that multiple punishments are intended. The last step of <u>Carawan</u> requires application of the rule of lenity, namely, that ambiguous penal statutes must be construed in favor of the accused, "...where there is a basis for concluding that the legislature intended a result contrary to that achieved by the <u>Blockburger</u> test...." 515 So.2d at 168.

In <u>Gordon</u>, the second district utilized the <u>Carawan</u> approach in a case where the defendant sold some cocaine, and was convicted of both sale, and possession of the same cocaine with intent to sell. Both "sale" and "possession with intent to sell" were proscribed by Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), which provides "...it is unlawful...to sell, manufacture, or deliver, or possess with intent to sell, manufacture, or deliver, a controlled substance...."

In the instant case, petitioner was convicted of sale of cocaine contrary to Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). Unlike the defendant in <u>Gordon</u>, petitioner was not also convicted of possession with intent to sell, but rather was convicted of "simple" possession (i.e., no element of intent to sell), in violation of Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1985) which provides: "It is unlawful for any person

to be in actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance..."

In <u>Gordon</u>, the court applied the first step of <u>Carawan</u> and concluded that the legislature had not clearly expressed its intent regarding whether one can be punished for both sale of cocaine, and possession of the same cocaine with intent to sell. Thus, the <u>Gordon</u> court proceeded to the next step of <u>Carawan</u>, which is application of the <u>Blockburger</u> test.

Applying that test, the court concluded that the offense of possession with intent to sell is a lesser offense of sale, and therefore it is presumed that multiple punishments were not intended.

Gordon is relevant to the instant case since its conclusion that possession with intent to sell is a lesser offense of sale under <u>Blockburger</u> is fully applicable to the facts here. In <u>Gordon</u>, the court opined that it is impossible for one to sell contraband without also being legally deemed to be in possession of that same contraband, even in cases where the accused was not in actual physical control of the contraband:

Because we lack an indication of legislative intent on this issue, we proceed to the second step of the analysis: application of the <u>Blockburger</u> test to the elements of the two crimes. In order for the crimes to be separate we must find that each crime contains an element not contained within the other. <u>Id</u>. We begin our discussion with the possession element of these two crimes. A defendant cannot be convicted of either crime unless he is deemed, at law, to have had some sort of possession of the contraband. As to the crime of sale, a defendant need not be the actual possessor of the

contraband although such actual possession will naturally result in criminal sanctions as in the instant case. The possessory element can be shared by others legally responsible for the crime. For example, a person acting as a go-between or broker may arrange for or be the moving force in the sale of contraband, yet never have either actual or constructive possession of the contraband. In such a case, the act of the seller who has actual possession of the contraband becomes the act of the broker. The broker is deemed to have the same possession as the seller and can be convicted as a principal of the crime of sale under Chapter 777, Florida Statutes. **As** to the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell, we need not elaborate upon the obvious, to wit, possession is an element of this crime. In the case before us, then, where there is no question of a broker or others involved in the crime charged, but rather a single act with a single defendant, we concluded that the first element of the crime of sale of contraband as well as the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell contraband is possession.

528 So, 2d at 912.

[Note: the <u>Gordon</u> court went on to conclude that the intent element of the offense of possession with intent to sell is also an element of the crime of sale. This portion of <u>Gordon</u> does not bear upon the instant case because, as noted, in petitioner's case he was convicted of "simple" possession and sale, not possession with intent to sell and sale].

Based upon the above-quoted portion of <u>Gordon</u>, petitioner asserts that application of <u>Blockburger</u> to the facts of the instant case leads to the conclusion that "simple" possession is included within the offense of sale, and thus multiple punishments are not presumed. <u>Gordon</u> was approved in <u>Smith 11</u>.

In this regard, it appears that <u>Smith I</u> and <u>Gordon</u> seemingly conflict with one another as <u>Smith I</u> applied the

Blockburger test and concluded that possession of contraband was not a lesser offense of sale, whereas <u>Gordon</u> held that possession was a lesser offense of sale under <u>Blockburger</u>. With all due respect, petitioner feels it prudent to note at this juncture that the Court in <u>Smith I</u> did not appear to consider the effect of Chapter 777, Florida Statutes, which in effect imputes the actions of two or more persons who help each other commit a crime to all of the persons involved.

After applying <u>Blockburger</u>, the court in <u>Gordon</u> went on to assess whether the legislature had provided some contraindication that it intended multiple punishments imposed, despite the presumption which arose out of the <u>Blockburger</u> portion of the <u>Carawan</u> analysis. After making this assessment, the court found "...no contraindication, consistent with constitutional double jeopardy protection, that the legislature untended to impose multiple punishments on component parts of the two crimes defined in this statute, both of which address the same evil of drug abuse." 528 So.2d at 915.

The same conclusion is compelled here. If the offenses of possession with intent to sell and sale both address the same evil, <u>Gordon</u>, it necessarily follows that the offenses of "simple" possession and sale each address the same evil, since there can be no question but that "simple" possession is included in the offense of possession with intent to sell.

Since <u>Smith I</u> applied only <u>Blockburger</u>, it did not go further and assess the presence of any contrary legislative intent, as now required by <u>Carawan</u>. As <u>Gordon</u> points out, and

for the reasons there stated, petitioner asserts the legislature did not intend multiple punishments since both offenses are directed at the same evil of drug abuse. Thus, assuming arguendo that <a href="mailto:Smith I">Smith I</a> correctly applied the <a href="mailto:Blockburger">Blockburger</a> test (which would mean the <a href="mailto:Gordon">Gordon</a> court did not), there exists a contrary legislative intent to the effect that multiple punishments were not intended.

Because the <u>Gordon</u> court concluded that application of <u>Blockburger</u> resulted in the conclusion that multiple punishments were not intended with respect to the offenses of sale and possession with intent to sell, and there is was not otherwise a contrary legislative intent, it found it unnecessary to apply the last step of <u>Carawan</u>, namely, application of the rule of lenity where there is a basis for concluding that the legislature intended a result contrary to <u>Blockburger</u>. Had the <u>Gordon</u> court reached this third step, it opined in dicta that "...had we found doubt regarding legislative intent, application of the rule of lenity would achieve the same result we reach today." 528 So.2d at 915. Petitioner contends the same is true here.

Based upon the foregoing discussion of <u>Gordon</u>, and the fact that <u>Gordon</u> was approved in <u>Smith 11</u>, petitioner asserts that application of all the various tiers or steps of <u>Carawan</u> leads to the view that the trial court erred in imposing judgment and sentence for both possession and sale of the same cocaine. The singular <u>Blockburger</u>-based test employed in <u>Smith</u> <u>I</u> is deficient for the very reason that it is singular. In

light of the analytical changes or modifications discussed and employed in <u>Carawan</u>, and <u>Smith II</u> (which approved <u>Gordon</u>), petitioner requests the Court to answer the certified question in the negative.

On rehearing, the district court in this case affirmed petitioner's dual convictions on authority of Wheeler v. State, 549 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Wheeler, as did Gordon and Smith 11, involved the offenses of possession with intent to sell and sale, both of which are proscribed by a single subsection of the same statute, Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). Wheeler holds that since both offenses were contained in the same subsection of the statute, the legislature intended to punish either the sale, or the possession with intent to sell, but not both when the same drug and transaction is involved. But where, as is true in the instant case, the possession offense is "simple" possession contained in a different subsection, Section 893.13 (1)(e), Florida Statutes, than the sale offense, the Wheeler court concluded, solely because of the fact of existence of the two subsections, that the legislature intended multiple punishments for both "simple" possession and sale of the same contraband.

The <u>Wheeler</u> court went on to criticize the <u>Gordon</u> court's application of <u>Blockburger</u>. In doing so, the <u>Wheeler</u> opinion refers to <u>Smith I</u>, and opines that possession is not a necessarily lesser included offense of sale as the definition of sale does not include possession. In reaching this conclusion, the Wheeler court failed to even discuss the effect

of Chapter 777, Florida Statutes, or tell us why it is inapplicable.

Petitioner argues that nothing in <u>Carawan</u> or in any other case of this Court supports the "same subsection" versus "different subsection" dichotomy erected in <u>Wheeler</u>. Indeed, the <u>Wheeler</u> analysis appears to be directly contrary to the reference made by this Court in <u>Carawan</u> to "...the constant patchwork revisions of Florida's criminal code...." 515 So.2d at 168.

Petitioner notes the <u>Wheeler</u> rationale has already been rejected by this Court, albeit implicitly. In <u>State v. Burton</u>, 14 F.L.W. 592 (Fla. December 7, 1989), referencing <u>Smith 11</u>, this Court approved the decision of the second district in <u>Burton v. State</u>, 541 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) that had held that the defendant could not be properly convicted of both delivery and possession (not possession with intent to sell) of the same contraband. "Delivery" is proscribed by Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), whereas "possession" is proscribed by a different subsection, Section 893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1985).

Wheeler approach would lead to a curious situation in which one could not be separately punished for possession of contraband with intent to sell, and sale of the same contraband, Smith II and Wheeler, while one could be separately punished for "simple" possession and sale of the same contraband. What makes the situation curious is the fact that "simple"

possession is an offense that is considered both less serious than possession with intent to sell, for its penalties are less, and one which is a <u>necessarily lesser offense</u> than possession with intent to sell. Even the <u>Wheeler</u> court recognized that "...simple possession under subsection (1)(e) is a necessarily lesser included offense of possession with intent to sell under subsection (1)(a)...." 549 So.2d at 691, note 9.

Petitioner would lastly note that, on rehearing, the first district realized that the instant case conflicted with the decisions of the second district in <a href="Months:Choctaw-v">Choctaw-v</a>. State, 547 So.2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), and those of the fifth district in <a href="Months:Kocol-v">Kocol-v</a>. State, 546 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) and <a href="Jelks-v">Jelks-v</a>. <a href="Months:State">State</a>, 546 So.2d 738 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)(A-1). Petitioner's research reveals also that the third district has also held it error to impose judgment and sentence for sale and possession of the same contraband. <a href="Grant-v">Grant-v</a>. State, 15 F.L.W. D213 (Fla. 3d DCA January 16, 1990) and <a href="Joseph-v">Joseph-v</a>. State, 541 So.2d 796 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

## V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, petitioner requests the Court to answer the certified question in the negative, quash the decision of the district court in <u>Porterfield v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and remand the cause to the trial court with directions to vacate the judgment and sentence imposed for possession of cocaine.