IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA'

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts petitioners' statement of the case and facts but for brevity and clarity in presenting its brief notes the following.

The criminal episode in Pollard's case occurred on 18 September 1987. Pollard was convicted on separate counts of possession of cocaine and sale or delivery of cocaine contrary to, respectively, sections 893.13(1)(e) and 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). The district court below affirmed on the authority of Wheeler v. State, 549 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) and Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983).

The criminal episode in Porterfield's case occurred on 14 March 1986. Porterfield was also convicted on separate counts of possession of cocaine and sale of cocaine contrary to, respectively, section 893.13(1)(e) and 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). The district court below affirmed on the authority of Wheeler v. State, and Smith v. State. The district court also certified a question of great public importance concerning the applicability of section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) to sections 893.13(1)(a) and 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1985).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The method of analysis set forth in Wheeler v. State, 549 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) and its corollary, St. Fabre, 548 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), conflicts with Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) and State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). Both criminal episodes occurred prior to 1 July 1988 and thus both cases are controlled by Carawan and State v. Smith. The decisions below should be quashed and remanded for application of Carawan and State v. Smith.

ARGUMENT

The issues presented by these cases are controlled by Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) and State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). It is first necessary to understand Carawan and Smith and the applicability of their relationship to the issues and cases at hand.

In <u>Carawan</u> this Court held that the legislature did not intend multiple convictions and punishment for separate statutory offenses, as defined under section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1987), if the commission of the offenses was "predicated on one single underlying act." Id. at 170. In the Court's view section 775.021(4) was merely an aid to construction and was not a clear statement of legislative intent that all separate statutory offenses committed in a single episode be subject to multiple convictions and punishment.

At the time <u>Carawan</u> issued, section 775.021(4) read as follows:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense

The Court apparently overlooked the rule codified as section 1.01(1), Florida Statutes (1987) that in construing statutes "the singular includes the plural and vice versa."

requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

In its next session, the legislature enacted chapter 88-131, section seven, Laws of Florida which substantively amended section 775.021(4) to override the <u>Carawan</u> interpretation. **As** amended, effective 1 July 1988, section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) reads:

- (4)(a) Whoever, in the course of criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for criminal offense; and sentencing judge may order the sentences served concurrently to consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleadings or the proof adduced at trial.
- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:
- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

In <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), this Court revisited Carawan in light of the legislative action in order to

answer a certified question of great public importance ² and to determine whether the legislature intended that sale or delivery of a controlled substance and possession of that same substance with intent to sell, both prohibited by section 893.13(1)(a), be subject to multiple convictions and punishments. The state argued that (1) chapter 88-131, section seven overrode <u>Carawan</u> and (2) the legislative override should be applied retroactively and this Court should recede from <u>Carawan</u>. This Court refused to recede from <u>Carawan</u> but agreed that section 775.021(4), as amended effective 1 July 1988, overrode Carawan.

It is readily apparent that the legislature does not agree with our interpretation of legislative intent and the rules of construction set forth in Carawan. More specifically:

(1) The legislature rejects the distinction we drew between act or acts. Multiple punishment shall be imposed for separate offenses even if only one act is involved.

(2) The legislature does not intend subsection that (renumbered) 775.021(4)(a) be treated merely as an in determining whether legislature intended multiple Subsection 775.021(4)(b) is punishment. specific, clear, and precise statement of legislative intent referred Carawan as the controlling Absent a statutory degree crime or a contrary clear and specific statement of legislative intent in the particular criminal offense statutes, all criminal offenses containing unique

The question read: "In applying <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla.1987), to the facts of this case, do convictions and sentences for the crimes of sale of one rock of cocaine and possession with intent to sell that same rock of cocaine violate the double jeopardy protection provided by the state and federal constitutions?" <u>Smith</u> 547 So.2d at 614.

statutory elements \underline{shall} be separately punished.

(3) Section 775.021(4)(a) should be strictly applied without judicial gloss.

(4) By its terms and by listing the only three instances where multiple shall punishment not be imposed, subsection 775.021(4) removes the need to assume that the legislature does not intend multiple punishment for the same offense, it clearly does not. However, the statutory element test shall be used for determining whether offenses are the same or separate. Similarly, there will be no occasion to apply the rule of lenity to subsection 775.021(4) because offenses will either contain unique statutory elements or they will not, i.e., there will be no legislative intent and no occasion to apply the rule of lenity.

Smith, 547 So. 2d at 615-616 (footnotes omitted).

This Court in State v. Smith, rejected the state and Justice Shaw's view that Carawan should be receded from on the authority of Chapter 88-131, section seven. Subsequently, however, this Court held that Carawan itself would not be retroactively applied in post-conviction proceedings to final convictions. State v. Glenn, 15 F.L.W. 69 (Fla. February 15, 1990). The net effect of Carawan, State v. Smith and Glenn is that Carawan is applicable only on direct appeal to cases where the crimes occurred prior to 1 July 1988; the rule of law in section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) and State v. Smith applies in all post conviction proceedings and to cases on direct appeal where the offenses occurred on 1 July 1988 or

thereafter. With this controlling law in mind, the state now turns to the method of analysis adopted by the court below.

The seminal case illustrating the method of analysis adopted by the court below is Wheeler v. State, 549 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Wheeler was charged and convicted on two counts of violation of section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), possession of cocaine with intent to sell and sale of the time of trial, prior to Carawan, dual convictions and punishment were appropriate under Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983). Although the First District Court of Appeal had the benefit of Carawan, State v. Smith, and chapter 88-131, section seven by the time it rendered its decision, a closely divided en banc court adopted an entirely new method of analysis which focused on whether the offenses were contained in the same or different subsections. Under the analysis adopted over a stinging dissent by Judge Nimmons, the First District reasoned that the inclusion of both charged offenses subsection 893.13(1)(a) indicated that the "legislature intended by this subsection to punish either the completed sale, manufacture or delivery of an illegal drug, or the frustrated sale, manufacture or delivery of the drug (by charging possession of the drug with the intent to sell, manufacture or deliver it), but not both when the same drug and the same transaction are involved.'' Wheeler, 549 So.2d at 689-690. Wheeler's offenses fell into the time period where Carawan was applicable. although the state disagreed with Carawan and continue to consider it erroneous, the result in Wheeler was correct in the

Smith. However, recognizing that the reasoning of Wheeler was contrary to both Carawan and State v. Smith and would needlessly prolong and expand the confusion created by Carawan, the state petitioned for clarification arguing that Judge Nimmons' special concurrence correctly analyzed and stated the law and should be adopted. See state's petition for clarification in appendix A.

The necessary corollary to the Wheeler holding that inclusion of offenses in the subsection signifies same legislative intent not to punish both offenses is that the of offenses in different subsections signifies placement legislative intent that there be dual convictions and punishment for both offenses. The First District so held in the companion case of St. Fabre v. State, 548 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

St. Fabre was convicted of both the sale of cocaine and of simple possession, contrary to, respectively, sections 893.13(1)(a) and 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1985). Because the offenses were committed in the time period when <u>Carawan</u> controlled, St. Fabre should not have been convicted of both offenses under the single act rationale of Carawan.

As can be seen from the analysis above, <u>St. Fabre</u> is simply an application of <u>Wheeler</u> to a different set of facts. The two are inseparable and either stand or fall together because they both rely on the proposition that placement of offenses in the same or different subsections of a statute controls whether dual or single convictions are permitted. For offenses committed

prior to 1 July 1988, this proposition directly conflicts with Carawan and, as in the St. Fabre scenario, works to the disadvantage of the criminal defendant. For offenses committed on or after 1 July 1988, the same proposition directly conflicts with State v. Smith and section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) and, as in the Wheeler scenario, works to the disadvantage of the state.

It will come as no surprise to the Court that the state remains convinced that <u>Carawan</u> was wrongly decided and should, even at this late date, be receded from. However, <u>Glenn</u> did limit the damage and with chapter 88-131, section seven and <u>State v. Smith</u>, it was possible to look forward to a time when the law would be certain and clear. Unfortunately, the method of analysis adopted in <u>Wheeler</u> and <u>St. Fabre</u> elevating the mere placement of offenses in the same or different subsections to a clear and specific statement of legislative intent superior to <u>Carawan</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, and section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) has extended and compounded the uncertainty created by <u>Carawan</u> in the First District.

The state agrees with petitioner that the dichotomy between "same subsection" and "different subsection" is a false one which should be speedily rejected by this Court. Whatever significance there may be in the inclusion of offenses in the same or different subsections, the state submits that <u>Carawan</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, and section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) are so specifically and strongly worded as to 'utterly

obliterate any significance there may be in the same or different subsection dichotomy.

Accordingly, the state agrees with appellant that Wheeler, and its corollary St. Fabre, rest on an incorrect dichotomy and that both Pollard and Porterfield, resting as they do on Wheeler, should be quashed and remanded with an opinion reaffirming State v. Smith. Namely, Carawan applies only on direct appeal where the offenses occurred prior to 1 July 1988; State v. Smith and section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) apply to offenses committed on or after 1 July 1988.

The Court should decline to answer the certified question in <u>Porterfield</u> because it is irrelevant to the case at hand and rests on the erroneous inclusion of criminal statutes from 1985, which are controlled by <u>Carawan</u>, and section 775.021(4)(b), which is post-Carawan.

CONCLUSION

The state agrees that the decisions below were in error.